
 

611 Pennsylvania Ave SE #231 | Washington, DC 20003 | www.aflegal.org 

 

VIA EMAIL: IER@usdoj.gov 

May 29, 2024 

Alberto Ruisanchez, Deputy Special Counsel 
Immigrant and Employee Rights Section 
Civil Rights Division, U.S. Department of Justice 
4 Constitution Square, 150 M Street, NE 
Room 7000 
Washington, DC 20002 
 
Investigation Request: Unlawful Discrimination by Tyson Foods 
 
Dear Mr. Ruisanchez: 
 
America First Legal Foundation (“AFL”) is a national, nonprofit organization working 
to protect the rule of law, due process, and equal protection for all Americans. We 
write pursuant to 28 C.F.R. 44.100 et seq., requesting that your office investigate 
Tyson Foods, Inc. (“Tyson” or “the Company”) for engaging in unfair immigration-
related employment practices in violation of 8 U.S.C. § 1324b. 
 
I. Background 
 
The Biden Administration has opened America’s borders to millions of illegal aliens 
and “refugees.”1 This has catalyzed an explosion in rape, human trafficking, 
prostitution, and child labor.2 Since 2021, nearly 400,000 children have crossed the 
southern border by themselves, nearly two-thirds of whom are sponsored in the 
United States by nonparent relatives or strangers.3 According to the New York 
Times, “[t]housands” of these children have ended up in punishing jobs across the 
country, “working overnight in slaughterhouses, replacing roofs, operating 
machinery in factories — all in violation of child labor laws.”4  

 
1 Southwest Land Border Encounters, U.S. CUSTOMS AND BORDER PROTECTION, https://bit.ly/3JXbqB7 
(last visited May 7, 2024) (see the graph and data under the heading “FY Southwest Land Border 
Encounters by Month”). 
2 See James Varney & Abigail Degnan, The Many Ways a Porous Border Means Crime Without 
Boundaries, REAL CLEAR INVESTIGATIONS, https://bit.ly/44CnJfq (last updated April 2024). 
3 Eli Murray et al., Where Migrant Children Are Living, and Often Working, in the U.S., N.Y. TIMES 
(Dec. 28, 2023), https://bit.ly/3wpiGCF.  
4 Id. Reportedly, the Biden Administration has “ignored or missed” key warnings about these 
vulnerable children. Apparently, political leaders in both the U.S. Department of Health and Human 
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Biden’s program of open borders and abusively generous refugee admissions 
threatens our national security, brings crime and chaos to our neighborhoods, and 
undermines the rule of law. It punishes our blue-collar workers by massively 
expanding the labor pool and driving down American wages. Yet some ostensibly 
American corporations have chosen to support Biden’s program to reap the benefits 
of artificially cheapened labor, with reckless disregard for the law and the human 
consequences of their conduct. 5 Tyson is one such company.  
 
II. Tyson violates 8 U.S.C. § 1324b 
 
Tyson is a publicly traded corporation incorporated under the laws of Delaware. Its 
principal executive offices are located at 2200 West Don Tyson Parkway, Springdale, 
Arkansas.6  
 
Tyson has affirmatively represented to its shareholders, investors, and the Securities 
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) that citizenship is a motivating factor in its 
employment and contracting practices.7 For example, it claims that “[w]ith 
approximately 39% women and over 60% representation from minority groups in our 
workforce, we actively promote a culture of DE&I. This commitment extends 
across the employee lifecycle, encompassing recruitment, individual 
development, and team member engagement.”8 In addition to tracking and 
setting goals for the diversity of its board and board nominees, the Company’s 
Executive Incentive Plan rewards executives for making race, color, religion, sex, or 
national origin a motivating factor in hiring and other employment practices.9 
 
These representations, claims, and incentives are not illusory. Rather, there is 
significant evidence that Tyson has for years favored aliens (allegedly including alien 
minors) over American citizens throughout its labor supply chain.10 At precisely the 

 
Services and the U.S. Department of Labor have actual knowledge that the Biden government is 
facilitating child abuse. 
5 STAFF REPORT OF H. COMM. ON THE JUDICIARY & SUBCOMM. ON IMMIGR. INTEGRITY, SEC. AND 
ENFORCEMENT, 118TH CONG., HOW THE BIDEN ADMINISTRATION’S LAX IMMIGRATION ENFORCEMENT 
ALLOWS DANGEROUS CRIMINAL ALIENS TO RUN FREE IN AMERICAN COMMUNITIES at 8, INTERIM STAFF 
REPORT (Apr. 16, 2024) (available at https://bit.ly/3JSEHg7). 
6 Tyson Foods, Inc., Form 10-K (Nov. 13, 2023), https://bit.ly/3UQlfqO [hereinafter Form 10-K]. 
7 Tyson Foods, Inc., Schedule 14A: Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 at 19, 46 (Dec. 21, 2023), https://bit.ly/4dP5Iim [hereinafter Proxy Statement]. 
8 Proxy Statement at v (emphasis added); see also Form 10-K at 7. 
9 Proxy Statement at 45-46; TYSON, Growing a More Sustainable Future: Sustainability Report 2022 at 
17 (available at https://bit.ly/4dzLpoO) [hereinafter Sustainability Report]. 
10 See Tyson Foods Indicted: Company, Workers Charged with Conspiracy to Smuggle Illegal 
Immigrants into U.S., CNN MONEY (Dec. 19, 2001), https://cnn.it/4bdn7zI; see also Rebecca Rainey, 
Perdue, Tyson Face ‘Unique’ Probe in Child Labor Crackdown, BLOOMBERG LAW (Oct. 6, 2023), 
https://bit.ly/3y6Yndw. 



3 

same time the Company is closing multiple plants across the United States, including 
in towns where it is the largest employer, Tyson continues to invest substantial 
resources into hiring and providing benefits to non-European aliens.11 Among other 
things: 
 

• The Company reportedly employs 42,000 aliens, more than a third of its 
workforce, and “would like to employ another 42,000 if [it] could find them.”12  

• To increase the number of immigrants it employs, Tyson Foods has joined the 
Tent Partnership for Refugees,13 a project of the Tent Foundation, Inc.,14 which 
“mobilize[s] major businesses to connect refugees to work.”15 Companies that 
join the Tent Partnership for Refugees coalition promise to reserve 
employment positions for refugees – American citizens are accordingly 
ineligible.16  

• In 2022, Tyson “committed to hiring 2,500 refugees over three years in the 
United States.”17 

• In 2023, it committed to “mentoring” fifty “refugee women,” fifty “Hispanic 
refugees,” and fifty “Afghan refugees” in Northwest Arkansas and across 
the United States.18 

 
11 Connor O’Neal, ‘It All Happened Very Suddenly’: Perry Tyson Foods Employee Shares About 
Permanent Closure, WE ARE IOWA (Mar. 13, 2024), https://bit.ly/3JRUtYP; Natalie Neysa Alund et al., 
Tyson Foods Closing Iowa Pork Plant as Company Moves Forward with Series of 2024 Closures, USA 
TODAY (Mar. 12, 2024), https://bit.ly/3UTCffV; Simone Foxman & Ella Ceron, Tyson Is Hiring New 
York Immigrants for Jobs No One Else Wants (Mar. 11, 2024), https://bloom.bg/3UByb2b. 
12 Foxman & Ceron, supra note 11. 
13 TENT PARTNERSHIP FOR REFUGEES (last visited Mar. 29, 2024), https://bit.ly/4dJ5cm6. 
14 Tent Foundation Inc., Form 990-PF (Nov. 15, 2023) (available at https://bit.ly/3wvc05T); TENT 
PARTNERSHIP FOR REFUGEES, Frequently Asked Questions (last visited Apr. 17, 2024), 
https://bit.ly/3yeQHpS (nested under the question “What is the relationship between the Tent 
Partnership and the Tent Foundation?”). 
15 TENT PARTNERSHIP FOR REFUGEES, supra note 13. 
16 TENT PARTNERSHIP FOR REFUGEES, U.S. Employers’ Guide to Hiring Refugees (Jan. 2024) (available 
at https://bit.ly/3UrxIzy). The “Tent Partnership for Refugees” uses the word “refugee” as “a catch-all 
term for all forcibly displaced migrants in the U.S” and includes the “seven main immigration statuses 
that employers may see: asylees, asylum seekers, humanitarian parolees, refugees, Special Immigrant 
Visa (SIV) holders, Temporary Protected Status (TPS) holders, and victims of human trafficking or 
criminal activity.” 
17 TENT PARTNERSHIP FOR REFUGEES, Tyson, Partners (last visited Mar. 29, 2024), 
https://bit.ly/3UPvb3E (emphasis added); see also Sustainability Report at 4. 
18 TENT PARTNERSHIP FOR REFUGEES, supra note 17 (emphasis added). This commitment appears to 
date back to at least 2021 when Tent Partnership for Refugees announced on X (then “Twitter”): “We’re 
proud to count Tyson among our members, and thrilled that they’ve joined the Tent Coalition for 
Afghan Refugees. Through the Coalition, Tyson will explore opportunities to hire, train, & support 
Afghans in the U.S. We’re proud to count Tyson among our members, and thrilled that they’ve joined 
the Tent Coalition for Afghan Refugees. Through the Coalition, Tyson will explore opportunities to 
hire, train, & support Afghans in the U.S,” Tent Partnership for Refugees (@TentOrg), X (Nov. 5, 2021, 
3:26 PM), https://bit.ly/3QEKERA. 
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• In its annual Sustainability Report, Tyson President & CEO Donnie King 
stated that the Company’s diversity goals include its commitment to continue 
to hire immigrant workers. He said that the Company “recognize[s] the 
importance of welcoming diverse voices to the conversation—and then 
supporting them when they arrive—we have dedicated over $2.4 million since 
2020 to support U.S. citizenship for immigrant employees.”19 In other words, 
the special services provided to foreign employees are intended to affect the 
balance of diversity, including national origin, in the Company’s workforce.20  

• For the years 2023 and 2024, the Company has reportedly committed $1.5 
million per year for legal aid services for foreign workers and providing paid 
time off for when they attend court hearings.21 Tyson does not provide similar 
benefits to American citizens.  

 
III. IER should investigate Tyson 
 
An investigation of Tyson by your office is particularly appropriate here because 
ample evidence suggests that the Company has knowingly and intentionally violated 
federal law and will continue to do so in the future.  
 
First, an unfair immigration-related employment practice is established when the 
evidence demonstrates discrimination “because of such individual’s national origin” 
or, in the case of a “protected individual,” because of “such individual’s citizenship 
status.” 8 U.S.C. § 1324b(a)(1). A “protected individual” includes an individual who is 
a citizen or national of the United States. 8 U.S.C. § 1324b(a)(3)(A). The Company’s 
pattern and practice of segregating employment opportunities, including hiring and 
mentorship, based on an individual’s citizenship or national origin, as well as its 
advertised intention to prefer “refugees” and aliens over U.S. citizens, therefore 
violates both 8 U.S.C. § 1324b(a)(1)(A) (employment preferences because of national 
origin) and § 1324b(a)(1)(B) (employment discrimination because of U.S. 
citizenship).22  

 
19 Sustainability Report at 4, 19 (emphasis added) (listing “[i]mmigrant and refugee support and 
resettlement” in the Report’s section describing Tyson Foods’ actions “Supporting Diverse 
Communities” (emphasis added)). 
20 Sustainability Report at 17 (emphasis added). Tyson has adopted a cramped definition of “diversity,” 
using it to mean a person’s immutable characteristics only. For example, it states that “[w]e are 
dedicated supporters of Minorities in Agriculture, Natural Resources and Related Sciences (MANRRS) 
an organization created to advance diverse representation in the agricultural industry” and that “[t]o 
attract diverse talent, our talent acquisition team partners with many educational and community 
organizations, such as the National Urban League” (emphasis added). 
21 Foxman & Ceron, supra note 11. 
22 IER’s jurisdiction does not include the company’s discriminatory contracting policies and practices. 
However, we note that Tyson admits to directing hundreds of thousands of dollars based on the race, 
color, sex, and national origin of the individuals served by different organizations, in facial violation 
of 42 U.S.C. § 1981. See Sustainability Report at 18 (“In 2022, [Tyson Foods] donated $250,000 through 
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Second, Tyson has been the target of multiple federal investigations and findings 
regarding its immigration-related employment practices.23 Most recently, according 
to published reports, Tyson contracted with Packers Sanitation Services, Inc. 
(“PSSI”), which paid a $1.5 million fine in 2023 for child labor violations.24 The U.S. 
Department of Labor found that PSSI had employed minors as young as thirteen to 
use caustic chemicals to clean “razor-sharp saws” and other high-risk equipment at 
13 meat processing facilities in 8 states.25 Seven of the more than one hundred 
affected children employed by PSSI were found to have worked at Tyson plants.26 In 
light of this history, the grave and credible allegations that Tyson is acting as a joint 
employer with contractors to circumvent immigration and child labor law 
obligations,27 strongly militate in favor of Department action.  
 
Thank you in advance for your consideration. Please feel free to contact us if you have 
any questions. 

      

Sincerely,  
/s/_Will Scolinos____ 
America First Legal Foundation 
 

 
Cc:  Kristen Clarke, Assistant Attorney General 
  

 
our Asian American and Pacific Islander grants to the following groups: Arkansas Coalition of 
Marshallese, National Association of Asian American Professionals, Family Support Services, Asian 
Americans Advancing Justice | Chicago, and Ethnic Minorities of Burma Advocacy and Resource 
Center”). 
23 David Leonhardt, Child Labor and the Broken Border, Newsletter, The Morning, N.Y. TIMES (Sept. 
19, 2023), https://nyti.ms/4dvYHmu; see also U.S. DEP’T OF JUST., INS Investigation of Tyson Foods, 
Inc. Leads to 36 Count Indictment for Conspiracy to Smuggle Illegal Aliens for Corporate Profit (Dec. 
19, 2001), https://bit.ly/3QEKMR4.  
24 U.S. DEP’T OF LAB., More Than 100 Children Illegally Employed in Hazardous Jobs, Federal 
Investigation Finds; Food Sanitation Contractor Pays $1.5M in Penalties (Feb. 17, 2023) 
https://bit.ly/3WyOa3Z. 
25 Id. 
26 Id. 
27 Letter from Senator Josh Hawley to Donnie D. King, Chief Executive Officer, Tyson Foods (Sep. 
19, 2023), https://bit.ly/4b7pUKL. 
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